# **Taylor University**

# Pillars at Taylor University

Master of Arts in Higher Education (MAHE) Theses

**Graduate Theses** 

5-2018

# Impact of a Student Leadership Experience on the Development of Creativity in Undergraduate Students

**Austin Taylor Smith Taylor University** 

Follow this and additional works at: https://pillars.taylor.edu/mahe



Part of the Higher Education Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Smith, Austin Taylor, "Impact of a Student Leadership Experience on the Development of Creativity in Undergraduate Students" (2018). Master of Arts in Higher Education (MAHE) Theses. 117. https://pillars.taylor.edu/mahe/117

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Theses at Pillars at Taylor University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master of Arts in Higher Education (MAHE) Theses by an authorized administrator of Pillars at Taylor University. For more information, please contact pillars@taylor.edu.

# IMPACT OF A STUDENT LEADERSHIP EXPEREINCE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF CREATIVITY IN UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

\_\_\_\_\_

### A thesis

Presented to

The School of Social Sciences, Education & Business

Department of Higher Education and Student Development

**Taylor University** 

Upland, Indiana

\_\_\_\_\_

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts in Higher Education and Student Development

by

Austin Smith

September 2017

© Austin Smith 2017

# Higher Education and Student Development Taylor University Upland, Indiana

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

|  | MASTER'S T                                  | HESIS   |
|--|---|---|
|  | This is to certify that                     | the Thesis of   |
|  | Austin Taylor                               | Smith   |
|  | entitled                                    |   |
| Impact of a Studen                     | nt Leadership Experience<br>Undergraduate S | on the Development of Creativity in<br>Students             |
| has been approved                      | by the Examining Commi                      | ttee for the thesis requirement for the                     |
| ir                                     | Master of Arts<br>Higher Education and St   |   |
|  | September 2                                 | 2017  |
| Drew Moser, Ph.D.<br>Thesis Supervisor | Date  | Scott Gaier, Ph.D. Date<br>Member, Thesis Hearing Committee |
|  | Tim Herrmann, Ph.D.<br>Member, Thesis Hear  |   |
|  | Tim Herrmann, Ph.D. Director, M.A. in High  | Date ner Education and Student Development                  |

#### Abstract

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact of a leadership experience on the development of creativity in undergraduate students in order to help student affairs professionals, faculty, and administrators better understand how they can develop creativity in their students. A phenomenological study was conducted on students who held a leadership position as a Resident Assistant or cabinet member of a student organization on the campus of a small institution in the Midwestern United States. The study consisted of an open-ended survey and semi-structured interviews. Key findings from this study include insight into various aspects of students' experiences in leadership, including event planning, supervisors, collaboration, impact on communication, looking at past failure, incorporation of interests into their roles, redefining creativity through their roles, and the students' creative self-efficacy. These findings additionally provide support for the idea that a leadership experience is an effective method for teaching creativity to undergraduate students.

# Acknowledgements

Sun Tzu said, "To lift an autumn hair is no sign of great strength; to see the sun and moon is no sign of sharp sight; to hear the noise of thunder is no sign of a quick ear." In reading these lines, I am reminded of how the completion of this thesis is not a sign of my ability but is the result others who have invested in me. Throughout the thesis process and life in general, the ability to be observant and a love for learning have been instilled upon me and carefully fostered, not by my own natural disposition, but by the support of others. As I reflect upon the past year of preparing, researching, and writing, I think of those who laid the foundational work allowing me to reach this point.

Thank you to my family who, although caught off-guard, supported me when I decided to completely change fields after years of anticipating that I would be in a career involving zoology, ethology, ecology, and design. You have provided me with a picture of what a Christ-centered family looks like, and for that I could never be more grateful.

Thank you to my various supervisors throughout my time at Taylor who introduced me to the world of higher education and student development and provided me with the opportunities that caused me to discover my interest in this field.

Thank you to my professors both from my undergraduate career and in MAHE who have allowed me to expand my horizons and discover my own love of learning.

Through courses and conversations, you have displayed what it looks like to serve Christ and others with heart, mind, soul, and strength, and you have equipped me with the tools

to build connections between diverse fields of study. I can easily say that, without these foundations, I would never have written on this topic.

Thank you to Cohort X. It has been an incredible experience getting to work and learn alongside you all. I deeply appreciate each of you and have learned so much from this cohort over the past year. I cannot wait to spend another year with you all.

Finally, thank you to both the Jumping Bean and the Gas City Starbucks for fueling my severe extroversion and providing the copious amount of caffeine I consumed during this process.

# **Table of Contents**

| Abstract  | iii |
|---|-----|
| Acknowledgements  | iv  |
| Chapter 1 Introduction                                  | 1   |
| Working Definitions                                     | 2   |
| Purpose Statement                                       | 3   |
| Chapter 2 Literature Review                             | 5   |
| Creativity  | 5   |
| Leadership Development in College Students              | 13  |
| Intersections between Creativity and Student Leadership | 17  |
| Chapter 3 Method  | 19  |
| Approach  | 19  |
| Context   | 20  |
| Instruments   | 21  |
| Procedures  | 21  |
| Analysis and Validity                                   | 22  |
| Summary   | 23  |
| Chapter 4 Results                                       | 24  |
| Overview of Survey Results                              | 24  |
| Overview of Interview Results                           | 25  |

|         | Incorporation of Interests into Role | 26 |
|---------|--------------------------------------|----|
|         | Event Planning                       | 28 |
|         | Impact on Communication              | 29 |
|         | Supervisors                          | 30 |
|         | Collaboration                        | 31 |
|         | Looking Past Failure                 | 32 |
|         | Redefining Creativity Through Role   | 33 |
|         | Creative Self-Efficacy               | 34 |
|         | Conclusion                           | 36 |
| Chapte  | r 5 Discussion                       | 37 |
|         | Event Planning                       | 37 |
|         | Supervisors                          | 39 |
|         | Limitations                          | 40 |
|         | Implications for Practitioners       | 43 |
|         | Implications for Future Research     | 45 |
|         | Conclusion                           | 46 |
| Referer | nces                                 | 48 |
| Append  | lix A: Survey Protocol               | 52 |
| Append  | lix B: Interview Protocol            | 54 |
| Append  | lix C: Survey Response Trends        | 55 |

# Chapter 1

#### Introduction

Society often views creativity as some abstract, ethereal mantel that graces certain individuals, thus bestowing upon them the ability to be artistically inclined (McNiff, 1998). Current research, however, suggests otherwise. Within the past thirty years, scholars across the disciplines of psychology, sociology, and higher education have become increasingly intrigued with the subject of creativity. The vast majority of research and writing on the topic has strived to examine what traits or dispositions are present in creative individuals, the factors contributing to creativity, and methodologies for its development.

Part of the reason for the recent emphasis on creativity is the understanding that innovation is a vital component in economic and societal prosperity, especially in a post-recession society. In *The Great Reset: How New Ways of Living and Working Drive Post-Crash Prosperity*, Florida (2010) stated, "The real key to economic growth lies in harnessing the full creative talents of every one of us" (p. 182). In a similar line of thought, businesses and universities are realizing creative dispositions must be developed in students, particularly during their college years.

In *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, Berrett (2013) proposed that "climate change, income inequality, and escalating health-care costs cannot be remedied by technocratic solutions alone" and that "knowledge will need to be combined across

disciplines, and juxtaposed in unorthodox ways" (para. 6). He further stated that development of creativity in the undergraduate years better prepares students who are more apt to switch between multiple careers and may eventually work in jobs and entire fields not yet in existence. In the end, individuals who have tools allowing them to be adaptable and make connections throughout various fields will set the course of future society.

Fortunately, the tools utilized by creative individuals are often developmental outcomes that student affairs professionals seek to foster in those involved in student leadership. Such traits include collaboration (Astin & Astin, 1996; Lucas, Claxton, & Spencer, 2014), engagement with multiple fields of study (Lucas et al., 2014; Patterson, 2012; Runco, 2007), and the ability to navigate complex and ambiguous situations (Cress, Astin, Zimmerman-Oster, & Burkhardt, 2001; Runco 2007). If students develop such traits through their leadership experience, they should ideally develop in creative capabilities. Despite these potential connections between student leadership and creativity, little to no research exists to provide evidence for their connection. Additionally, the terms *creativity* and *leadership* have a variety of definitions, making discussions concerning them challenging.

### **Working Definitions**

Previously mentioned traits are common themes in much of the current literature; however, they are only components of the greater subject of creativity. Because of the variety in approaches to creativity, this study utilized the following working definition: creativity is the ability to make connections within a single field or across multiple fields of knowledge to create a novel concept or product. This working definition gives a

concise description while leaving room for the variety of traits used by many researchers to give clarity to the nature of creativity.

As with creativity, student leadership is also a broad topic within the realm of higher education with a myriad of views concerning the definition of leadership, its purpose, and how to develop it in the university. Due to the diversity of thought regarding leadership, this study used the following working definition: student leadership refers to any position in which a student is developed in order to cultivate characteristics indicative of effective leaders. Specifically, the characteristics to be developed in student leaders are those described by Cress and colleagues (2001). Additionally, although Astin and Astin (1996) argued leadership is a process rather than a position, for the purpose of this study, leadership is discussed as a role since the students examined are in designated leadership positions.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this study was to examine if a student leadership experience fosters traits associated with creative individuals and, if so, the extent and manner in which those traits are developed. This study sought to understand the experiences of students in a position of leadership on the campus of a small, private, faith-based university located in the mid-west. In understanding the experience of students in relation to their leadership experience and creative development, this study endeavored to gain insight into potential methods for creative development that could be further tested and eventually implemented. As the accounts were collected and analyzed, the following research questions served to guide the study:

- 1. Is creativity a developmental outcome of a student leadership experience?
- 2. What traits indicative of creative individuals are being developed in student leaders and how are these traits being developed?

In addressing these questions, student development professionals may better understand how creativity can be cultivated in their student body. Additionally, those who supervise student leaders may be able to adapt aspects of their practices in order to further develop creative dispositions in their students. In conclusion, understanding if and how creative development occurs through a student leadership experience may allow universities to increase their impact on the global community as they produce innovative individuals who are confident and ready to take on society's largest problems.

# Chapter 2

#### **Literature Review**

# Creativity

The nature of creativity. The subject of creativity is difficult to define concretely. According to Kandiko (2012), "Creativity research is so broad and contested in part because it is conceptualised from several disciplinary angles" (p. 192). Another challenge to approaching creativity is that the general public holds a false idea that creativity specifically refers to artistic ingenuity and resourcefulness. Countering this notion, McNiff (1998) claimed, "There is also the assumption that creative expression is only for the talented few and that [the general public's] creation is a waste of time since it will never compare to what the 'masters' do" (p. 22). Rather than referring specifically to an artistic skillset, creativity is a way of thinking, which can be applied to any field.

In his book *Creativity: Flow and the Psychology of Discovery and Invention*, Csikszentmihalyi (1996) described creativity as "any act, idea, or product that changes an existing domain, or that transforms an existing domain into a new one" (p. 28). He further defined a creative person as "someone who's thoughts or actions change a domain or establish a new domain" (p. 28). Another aspect of Csikszentmihalyi's work in creativity has been to describe it in relation to the term *flow*. This concept of flow is a state of consciousness in which one is stretched and involved in some form of novelty in a way that is "almost automatic, effortless, yet highly focused" (p. 110). In his studies,

Csikszentmihalyi noted individuals who exhibit high amounts of creativity within their given area often find themselves in flow when under pressure but in the midst of innovation.

Alternatively, Runco (2003) defined creativity as "any thinking or problem solving that involves the construction of new meaning" (p. 318). He elaborated that, while most who study creativity include the usefulness of the innovation as an aspect of the definition, the constructed idea will most likely be useful to at least the individual who came up with it. In addition to his working definition, he argued,

A critical assumption is that everyone has creative potential. Creativity is not only characteristic of eminent geniuses nor even only of productive professionals. This follows from the notion that creative potential is a part of the basic human tendency to construct (personal) interpretations and assimilate information as we experience it. (p. 321)

With such ideas, Runco (2007) expounded upon commonalities in creative individuals. His list of traits, tendencies, and characteristics of creative people included autonomy, flexibility, preference for complexity, openness to experience, sensitivity, playfulness, tolerance of ambiguity, risk taking or risk tolerance, intrinsic motivation, psychological androgyny, self-efficacy, and wide interests and curiosity.

Similarly to Runco (2003), much of the current research on creativity also looked at dispositions found in creative individuals. In a study on primary and secondary school children in the UK, Lucas (2016) utilized a five-dimensional model for looking at creativity, which he developed in a study along with Claxton and Spencer (2014). Three sub-characteristics elaborate the definition of each disposition. The first is that

individuals are inquisitive, that is, they wonder and question, explore and investigate, and challenge assumptions. The second disposition is that creative people are imaginative; they play with possibilities, make connections, and use intuition. Third, creative students are persistent, meaning they stick with difficulty, dare to be different, and tolerate uncertainty. The fourth trait is that they are collaborative by sharing the product of their creativity, giving and receiving feedback, and cooperating appropriately. Finally, creative individuals are disciplined through developing techniques, reflecting critically, and crafting and improving (Lucas et al., 2014). Although the studies were preformed on primary school children, the dispositions described still apply when transferred to a university setting.

In 2002, Treffinger, Young, Selby, and Shepardson described a list of "Personal Creativity Characteristics" as a basis for their article, "Assessing Creativity: A Guide to Educators." These behaviors included generating ideas, digging deeper into ideas, openness and courage to explore ideas, and listening to one's "inner voice" (p. ix). The characteristics were used in conjunction with operations, context, and outcomes: operations refer the strategies to analyze situations, context is the physical space and culture that allow an environment for creativity, and outcomes are the products created. The components mentioned above are in dynamic relationship with each other and allow for productivity.

Hulme, Thomas, and DeLaRosby (2014) also looked at a series of traits common amongst creative individuals when looking at college students. They described these traits as *malleable characteristics of creative individuals*, including curiosity, associative thinking, courage, and creative self-efficacy. Here, curiosity is the motivation to enter

ambiguity to find novel experiences. Associative thinking is defined as combining ideas in new ways. Courage in creative individuals refers to overcoming fears and remaining true to beliefs in adversity. The final characteristic is creative self-efficacy—the mindset that one can be creative. Such a mindset is highly important in combating the misconception that creativity is a trait of an elect few.

Hulme et al. (2014) also noted creativity as a process to be undertaken and proposed a framework for creative ideation. The process involves identifying a problem, self-immersing in the subject; generating, combining, incubation, evaluating, and selecting ideas; and, finally, prototyping and implementing the idea. The emphasis in this method is on the final step in which ideas are prototyped, refined, and implemented in order to put the creative output to use.

Other studies have looked more at how students themselves view creativity. A study on Chinese college students by Zhu and Zhang (2011) examined students' perception as to which aspects contribute most to their own notion of creativity. They found that motivation was the most common factor attributed to creativity. This aspect was followed by intelligence, personality, knowledge, and environment, respectively. A student's self-perception of his or her own creativity has also been studied in relation to leadership potential. Lester (2011) sought to examine this relationship; however, the results of the study showed no statistical significance between the two traits. Still, in her discussion, she postulated the results might have been due to the limited sample and the nature of the subject-selection.

Despite the diverse approaches to discussing creativity as a subject, the following common themes can be drawn from the current literature: creative individuals are

curious, embrace the uncertain, and contribute some sort of novel product or way of thinking (Csikszentmihalyi, 1996; Hulme et al., 2014; Lucas et al., 2014; Runco, 2007; Treffinger et al., 2002). By analyzing the common traits of creative individuals and the most widely accepted definitions of creativity, researchers have studied how student development professionals can cultivate those traits in students.

Development of creativity and implementation in universities. After examining the nature of creativity comes the challenge of developing it in university students. Fortunately for colleges, "The fact that Creativity is largely intentional supports the notion that 'we can do something about creativity.' It is not fixed at birth, nor necessarily lost in midlife or late adulthood" (Runco, 2007, p. 411). This concept that creativity is about developing traits or methods is particularly good news in light of the TED talk by Robinson (2006), in which he argued that the modern school system is "educating people out of their creative capacities." Thus, in the current state of American education, colleges and universities must be the ones to re-instill creative dispositions in their students.

An important note to make is that the development of creativity can be impacted by culture. A study by Kharkhurin and Motalleebi (2008) compared the creativity of monolingual college students from the United States, Russia, and Iran. They found the indicators of creativity were weaker in the Iranian students. After follow up interviews, the researchers concluded that the result was most likely due to the authoritarian nature of Iranian culture and emphasis on convergent thinking.

Alternatively, Hargrove and Rice (2015) proposed that creativity is related to practices such as metacognition and is a teachable skillset. They stressed metacognition

in developing creativity and divergent thinking: "Metacognition is a logical conduit for developing creative problem-solving approaches in the classroom" (p. 162). They argued metacognition could improve the creative capabilities of design students when shown the correlation between the awareness of cognition and creativity.

Another approach to developing creativity considers the environmental factors that contribute to creative development. Looking at the classroom, Cole, Sugioka, and Yamagata-Lynch (1999) identified a series of factors that produce an environment that fosters creativity. After studying a university-level design course, they found personal teacher-student relationships, assessment methods, openness and freedom of choice in finding individual creative styles, and classroom activities were some of the elements that created such an environment. Wyke (2013) also found pedagogy emphasizing experimentation and reflection was an effective method for universities to develop creativity. By encouraging students to partake in such practices, innovation can be developed more effectively.

Similarly, Hulme et al. (2014) proposed the importance of creativity ecosystems as the method for developing creative characteristics and supporting creative methodology. They proposed generating such environments through reengineering campus organizational structures and organizing leaning experiences to develop creative characteristics. Reengineering campus organizational structures occurs when institutions allow physical space and time for students to engage with creativity and by hiring personnel with adventurous dispositions who are comfortable with uncertainty and willing to take risks. Learning experiences can be created as well, allowing students to

prototype ideas while having room for failure, emphasizing deep questioning, and allowing students to learn from a group of creative mentors.

Such environments conducive to creative development are another common theme in literature specific to the development of creativity in higher education. The literature often identifies supervisors and educators as critical components to providing a space in which students can develop in their creative potential (Alencar, Fleith, & Pereira, 2017; Baillie, 2006; Jackson & Sinclair, 2006). According to Jackson and Sinclair (2006), an appropriate pedagogy for creativity is built upon the relationships between teachers and students. In order to encourage creative development, teachers should show how they are creative and design an environment that engages students, allowing them to combine abilities and information to produce creative outcomes. Although most literature considers creative development specifically in the academic realm, the proposed techniques provide a basic framework upon which educators can begin to consider how to develop creativity in students.

Many colleges and universities have already started the task of developing creativity in their students. In his article, Berrett (2013) identified schools integrating creativity into their practices. Amongst those listed were Stanford, Carnegie Mellon Adrian College (MI), University of Kansas, City University of New York, University of Kentucky, and Oklahoma State University. The methods utilized thus far range from requiring specific classes in creativity, to developing offices in the university structure with the purpose of integrating innovation into academic work, to training staff and faculty to foster creativity in students. Design thinking has also been a focus in some schools so students learn how "to use metaphor and analogy to reframe problems, break

them down to component parts to view them from different perspectives, and work iteratively—that is, revising again and again—to find answers" (para. 15). Such universities have found great success in producing innovative students who can think critically in their fields.

With the successes in developing innovative students comes the challenge of how to go about assessing creative development. According to Cowen (2006), "The multiplicity and often the suddenness of the possible approaches to being creative therefore complicate the business of assessing the process—because the creative process, for any learner, is unpredictable and difficult to capture" (p. 157). Additionally, society looks to products as the measure of creativity, rather than the process of the creative act. Thus, Cowen proposed a method of self-assessment in which students put together a portfolio with their definition of creativity and a standard of how they think their own creativity should be judged; sources for this definition; items they gathered through the program; a description of how their creativity was manifested during the activity based in the items mentioned above and comparing the description to their standard; and an explanation of how they reached their conclusion. The portfolio is presented to a panel of judges who audit the objectivity of the self-assessment and ensure it truly matches their preset standards. Balchin (2006) also proposed utilizing a panel of judges knowledgeable to the relevant field to assess creativity in a given work, emphasizing consensual assessment. Consensual assessment can be integrated into an assessment method such as that proposed by Cowen (2006) or utilize a more quantitative tool to determine creative development while reducing the potential for skewed results due to a biased judge.

In the face of contemporary societal challenges, businesses and universities are beginning to realize the importance of developing creativity in their students (Florida, 2010; Wyke, 2013). The current research and discussion on the subject indicates creativity is not an innate gifting but a skill or trait that can be developed (Runco, 2003, 2007). Furthermore, the foremost researchers in the topic have suggested that creativity is a natural disposition in children; however, the education system, which promotes convergent thinking, forces children to lose this instinctive trait (Robinson, 2006). Thus, it becomes the role of the university to re-teach creativity to their students in order to provide an innovative workforce.

#### **Leadership Development in College Students**

In an age with great social and economic problems, many universities also put an increased effort on developing leaders. Thus, cultivating leadership qualities is a popular topic for student development scholars. Due to such studies, researchers have proposed a variety of models and theories of leadership development in undergraduate students.

A fundamental theory in understanding how leadership and other qualities are developed in students is Astin's Involvement Theory (1984). Astin suggested students who are involved have greater developmental and learning outcomes. He also stated behavior is more critical to involvement than simply valuing it. Involvement, according to Astin, has five postulates: it is physical or psychological; it occurs along a continuum; it has both qualitative and quantitative attributes; it is proportionally related to learning and development; and an educational policy's effectiveness is related to its ability to increase student involvement. Since almost every academic or nonacademic policy or

practice impacts involvement in some way, student leaders should be developing or learning more due to their engagement on campus.

Astin's Involvement Theory (1984) serves as the basis of numerous studies concerning student leadership. In 2012, Patterson studied undergraduate students from the University of Florida's College of Agriculture and Life Sciences. The study examined the extent to which involvement in an organization impacts the development of leadership behaviors. The findings showed involvement in organizations and clubs was an influential factor in developing leadership. Patterson added, "The leadership organizations can be associated with a student's major, but some of the most effective leadership development opportunities seem to be with interdisciplinary organizations" (p. 7). Although this study was conducted on a single school within a large university, Patterson's finding concerning interdisciplinary organizations indicates that similar results may occur elsewhere.

In addition to how involvement impacts leadership development, some also assessed the impact of leadership training programs. In their study, Cress and colleagues (2001) examined students across ten universities. Specifically, they looked at "whether leadership education and training [had] a direct effect on college student' leadership ability as well as on their personal and educational development" (p. 15). Cress et al. surveyed students regarding twelve categories: understanding of self; ability to set goals; interest in developing leadership in others; commitment to civic responsibility; sense of personal ethics; clarity of personal values; conflict resolution skills; decision-making abilities; ability to deal with complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity; ability to plan and implement programs and activities; willingness to take risks; and understanding of

leadership theories. In addition to these twelve leadership categories, the researchers also asked if students held an elected position and measured their co-curricular involvement. The researchers found those who participated in leadership activities experienced greater change in the developmental outcomes than non-participants, with no difference in regard to gender. The study also found that experiences in leadership education and training contributed significantly to such development as opposed to student leaders' self-selection. Additionally, Cress et al. identified common elements of programs that directly impacted development: "(a) opportunities for service (such as volunteering); (b) experiential activities (such as internships); and (c) active learning through collaboration (such as group projects in the classroom)" (p. 23).

Besides students' involvement in programs, studies have also looked at leadership in the form of models. In 1996, Astin and Astin, through the Higher Education Research Institute (HERI), published their social change model of leadership development. They argued leadership was primarily concerned with societal change and that leadership is a process, collaborative, and is value-based. Additionally, Astin and Astin added that all students are potential leaders and that service is an effective way to develop their leadership skills. The social change model's stated goals were (a) to increase students' self-knowledge of skills as they relate to leadership capacity and leadership competence of organizing individuals to work as a group and (b) to bring about positive social change (p. 19). Essential to the model were seven values, referred to as the "seven C's" along with a central hub. The values were categorized at the level of the individual, group, or community. At the individual level were consciousness of self, congruence of behavior, and commitment. Group values were collaboration, common purpose, and the ability to

engage in controversy with civility. Finally, community and societal values included citizenship and change, which was the central hub of the model (p. 21). Since its publication, the social change model has been a focus of numerous studies.

Utilizing the social change model (Astin & Astin, 1996), Dugan (2006) examined variance in male and female college students. The study examined if a difference existed between genders across each of the eight variables proposed in the model. Dugan found students struggled most with the ability to engage in controversy with civility, citizenship, and change, regardless of sex. This study ultimately supports the social change model as a generally applicable method of understanding student leadership.

Examining leadership practice has been another popular method of assessing student leadership. Utilizing an updated version of Student Leadership Practices

Inventory (LPI), Posner (2004) examined fraternity presidents and cabinet members and their self-identification of leadership capacities. The LPI examined practices described as "Modeling the Way, Inspiring a Shared Vision, Challenging the Process, Enabling Others to Act, and Encouraging the Heart" (p. 444). Students who used the practices put forth in the LPI self-identified as more effective in their leadership capabilities. These findings indicate leadership can effectively be examined in students by considering practices.

Ultimately, college student leadership is a topic that has been greatly studied by scholars in the realms of higher education and student development. Leadership is not an instinctive ability found in college students, but rather, it is a set of learned skills and traits (Astin & Astin, 1996). The development of these traits or practices—such as those specified by Cress et al. (2001), Astin and Astin (1996), and Posner (2004)—is closely connected to the students' involvement on campus (Astin, 1984; Patterson, 2012).

Through a student's engagement on campus, they can further develop into individuals prepared to be effective leaders upon graduation.

# **Intersections between Creativity and Student Leadership**

Many points of similarity exist between creativity and leadership in the university. Such intersections are seen primarily in traits found in creative individuals and characteristics student affairs practitioners hope to foster in student leaders. By examining these points of commonality, one can postulate how creativity may be developed through a student leadership experience.

The first similarity between creative individuals and student leaders lies in the practice of collaboration. Astin and Astin (1996) described collaboration as one of seven values (the seven C's) of their social change model of student leadership. Similarly, Lucas and colleagues (2014) included a collaborative disposition as one of the five dimensions in their model of creativity. Ideally, as students work in a group with peers in a leadership capacity, they can refine ideas by giving and receiving constructive feedback.

A second aspect of convergence between student leaders and students who are innovative is in engagement within a broad range of fields. Patterson (2012) observed that students were more developed in their leadership capacities when involved in interdisciplinary organizations. In line with engagement with the interdisciplinary, Lucas et al. (2014) described the ability to make connections as an aspect of an imaginative disposition. Additionally, Runco (2007) included the presence of a wide range of interests as an indicative characteristic of a creative individual. When students engage in

leadership within a diverse organization, they should be able to more effectively make connections between various subjects and develop interests outside their major field.

The third aspect of commonality in leadership and creativity is in the ability for students to enter into uncertain or complex situations. Cress et al. (2001) used the ability to deal with complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity and willingness to take risks as categories for measuring students' leadership ability. Runco (2007) also included each of these factors in his list of traits of creative people. Students involved in a leadership position should be developing these capabilities in a manner that allows them to experiment and create new ideas, despite the risk of failure.

In conclusion, a myriad of characteristics and practices overlap between leadership development in students and creative individuals. Additionally, if students are given the opportunity to be creative, according to Astin (1984), they should be developing and learning more due to their involvement in creative practice.

Unfortunately, little to no research exists concerning if students involved in leadership actually develop creative capabilities. Thus, this study sought to affirm connections between creativity and its development in student leaders through their involvement in a leadership position.

# Chapter 3

#### Methodology

Many similarities exist between traits found in creative individuals and in characteristics universities seek to develop in their student leaders. Thus, it follows that, as universities develop such traits in student leaders, they should, to some capacity, be developing creative capabilities. This study examined students in leadership positions to see if they were being developed into creative individuals.

# **Approach**

Since little research has been conducted on this topic thus far, a qualitative study was most appropriate to explore this subject. According to Creswell (2013), "A phenomenological study describes the common meaning for several individuals of their lived experiences of a concept or a phenomenon" (p. 76). Since this study examined students' experiences and how creativity develops through such occurrences, a phenomenological study was most appropriate methodological design type. Additionally, this study utilized the hermeneutical approach to phenomenology, as described by van Manen (1990), allowing the researcher to make connections and interpretations from the collected data. Since this study was highly exploratory, bracketing out the researcher's thoughts and experiences with the phenomenon would have inhibited drawing comprehensive conclusions.

#### Context

The university where the study took place is a private, faith-based, liberal-arts university located in the mid-west. The student body consists of around 2,000 students, primarily undergraduates. The university has many long-standing programs and traditions, placing a large emphasis on their residence life and student programs.

The participants for this study were students who held leadership positions on campus. Specifically, these students were involved with residence life as Resident Assistants (RAs) or who were members of cabinets under student organizations. These two groups of student leaders were purposefully selected, as they were the most likely to develop the traits of interest due to the intense time and energy commitments inherent in their roles. Additionally, one of the developmental outcomes for the university's student programming office is for students to develop in their creative capabilities. According to the Director of Student Programs, the office defines creativity as bringing either something physical or some sort of meaning to life. This definition of creativity is also discussed in relation to imagination, defined as "the seeing of something that is new or not yet and actively choosing to be that new or to bring it to life" (Director of Student Programs, personal communication, January 20, 2017). The Residence Life office at the institution also provides guidance on creativity in their class for incoming RAs. According to the Resident Director responsible for teaching this session, they discuss creativity as freedom within limitations in how RAs program in a way that incorporates unique ideas and interests within their floor or wings culture and traditions (personal communication, August 5, 2017). Because creativity is taught to some extent in both

offices, this study used purposeful sampling to ensure the selected individuals provided high-quality information about their experiences in leadership positions.

#### **Instruments**

This study utilized an open-ended electronic survey (Appendix A) developed by the researcher and was sent out to students identified as RAs or a member of a student organizations cabinet by either the Director of Student Programs or the Director of Residence Life. The survey inquired how or to what extent traits associated with creativity were developed through their leadership experiences (i.e., collaboration, broad interests, affinity toward complexity, broad interests, and risk tolerance). The wording of the survey questions was also analyzed to ensure the terminology in the protocol was clear and that alternate meanings of terms might be eliminated. To ensure this, the protocol was administered in a pilot study. The responses were examined to reduce confusion and ensure the protocol content was clear.

The researcher also developed an interview protocol (Appendix B) administered to eight students, determined through the surveys. This interview protocol sought a more comprehensive account of specific traits the student indicated were being developed through their leadership experience. Additionally, through the interviews, the students were asked about how they define creativity and if their leadership experience had had any impact on their thinking concerning creativity as a whole, as opposed to only examining creativity as a set of characteristics.

#### **Procedures**

After receiving approval from the IRB, the researcher consulted the Director of Student Programs and the Director of Residence Life to obtain a list of students involved

in leadership positions under their departments. Additionally, the directors were asked to encourage their students to complete the surveys. Next, an online survey was sent out to the students indicated by the directors. In order to increase the response rate, the researcher offered a drawing for \$10 gift card to the campus coffee shop as incentive. Third, the surveys were examined, and eight students who included responses indicating a unique perspective on one or more of the traits and indicated a willingness to meet for an interview were contacted. Selected students were then interviewed individually. The protocol for these interviews sought to gain a more detailed account of their experiences and determine if they had developed as creative individuals through their leadership experience. Interviews were recorded and then transcribed so the data could be analyzed.

### **Analysis and Validity**

After collecting the data from the surveys and interviews, the researcher organized it into a readable document format. Next, the researcher read through the data and made notes and memos as suggested by Creswell (2013). Following the annotation, the data was coded according to common key words and phrases. Although the protocol lent to more preconfigured categories, the researcher was observant to allow other codes to emerge from the data. After the coding process, the codes were grouped into themes, and from themes interpretation began.

To ensure the validity of the data and its interpretation, the researcher utilized triangulation and member checking. Triangulation refers to connecting the data collected from multiple participants in order to achieve a more comprehensive picture of the phenomenon (Creswell, 2013). This strategy prevents one individual account from providing the sole basis of a reported finding, skewing the results. The researcher also

used member checking as a method of validating the data. This technique involved providing participants with a brief analysis of the data derived from their interview and asking the participants to confirm the accuracy of the analysis. Asking the participants to look over the preliminary analysis gave them the opportunity to provide alternative terminology or make corrections to misunderstood responses. Utilizing these strategies, the researcher could better ensure the validity of the findings.

### **Summary**

The methodology for this study utilized a qualitative, phenomenological design in order to capture the experiences of student leaders to examine whether they were developing traits associated with creativity as a result of their leadership experience. By conducting both a survey and interviews, the data showed broader trends within potential creative development in student leaders and gave more detailed accounts of specific experiences providing explanations for such trends. This study sought to determine if students' experiences in a position of leadership were developing characteristics and skills such as an affinity toward complexity, the ability to make connections across various fields, diverse interests, and the ability to prototype and refine ideas. These traits indicated whether a leadership position was, in fact, equipping students to enter society as innovative individuals who will work to combat society's most challenging problems.

# Chapter 4

#### Results

The results of this study sought to examine if a student's experience in a leadership position impacted their views of creativity, their perceptions of themselves as creative individuals, and their development of characteristics indicative of creative individuals. A survey, which the researcher used to identify interview participants, provided a general overview as to whether participants were developing traits that are desired outcomes of a leadership experience and attributes of creative individuals. The interviews expounded on the survey responses and asked further about each participant's definition of creativity and whether they viewed themselves as creative individuals.

#### **Overview of Survey Results**

The survey was sent to 169 students including the pilot survey; 32 students participated. Of the 32 respondents, 26 identified as female and 6 as male; 29 identified as white, and 3 identified as "multiple ethnicity/other." In terms of academic year, the participants included 9 sophomores, 11 juniors, and 12 seniors. Overall, most participants' responses were affirmative. The largest number of negative responses were in response to the questions inquiring if their leadership role allowed them to develop a broader range of interests and if their role allowed them to test and refine their ideas, with four negative responses per question (for full breakdown of responses, see Appendix C).

When asked whether their experience helped them to better make connections across multiple fields, participants on average interpreted the question as referring to networking connections rather than connections in information. Thus, responses that demonstrated an obvious misunderstanding of the question were discarded. To rectify this, the researcher asked the interviewees a similar question with clarified wording.

#### **Overview of Interview Results**

Of the eight survey participants, five were female, and three were male; five were white, and three identified as "multiple ethnicity/other." Additionally, four participants (two males and two females) were Resident Assistants (RAs) while the other four (three females and one male) held positions in a student organization. Seven interview participants were currently in their roles, and one held his position the year prior. In addition, one of the RAs had been a member of a student organization previously, and one of the student organization members had been an RA the year before.

From the interview data, eight themes emerged, along with nine sub-themes. Participants discussed aspects of their leadership experience such as incorporation of interests into the role, event planning, impact on communication, supervisors, collaboration, and looking past failure. Incorporation of interests into the role included sub-themes of connection to one's major, incorporation of class material into the role, and new interests developed from the role. Collaboration included a sub-theme of going to a team for input or support, and impact on communication included a sub-theme of creativity in conversation. Participants also specifically discussed creativity with themes of redefining creativity through their roles and creative self-efficacy. Redefining creativity through their roles included sub-themes of creativity as being art or music,

creativity as being new or original, and creativity as being unique. Creative self-efficacy included the sub-theme of the participant's role impacting his or her view of self as creative.

# **Incorporation of Interests into Role**

In the interviews, all eight participants discussed incorporating their interests into their leadership positions. As a way to combat stagnation within her cabinet, one student organization president mentioned,

I think a lot of times finding things that I'm really interested in like talks that sound interesting or movies and, like, watching them together or going to something can, like, spark a conversation that I really want our cabinet to have.

Another student organization member referred back to her previous RA experience:

... we had to do an educational, um-different little educational things as [RAs]. We were required to do a certain number of them a year and one of them that I did, which was kind of impromptu, we—I kind of just taught the girls knitting. Which seemed really simple, but I've knit for fourteen years, so it was something that I felt that I could share with them, and it's something that I've always been interested in.

Although both of the above examples were more general, most examples given by participants included a connection to their major, incorporation of class material into their roles, or new interests due to their roles.

**Sub-themes:** Connection to major and incorporation of class material into role. Throughout the interviews, seven participants made a connection to their major, six of whom discussed their major in relation to their leadership position. Additionally, four

mentioned incorporating class information into their roles. One RA described how both her major and specific course information impacted her experience as a leader:

I love love love my major. I love communications. I love it because when I switched into it junior year, it was crazy to me that I was learning about things that I would apply to my daily life. Like, I was learning how to talk to people on my wing that I was-I was having super hard conversations, um, on my wing and I didn't know how to approach them, or I, like, didn't understand why they wouldn't—why they reacted in this way or what they wouldn't open up about this. And I would go to class and literally be, like, "And here's Johani's window, and here's closed information, and here's open information," and I was, like, "Oh my gosh, this is, like, what I've—this is why I can't communicate with these people," or "This is why this person is upset about this because I responded in this way." . . . that's how I take that . . . . I've cried in class before because I've learned information that I could apply directly to somebody in my-that I was trying to lead. That was, like, the key to unlocking our problems so-or our solutions, I don't know, anyway, bad metaphor, whatever. Um, so yeah, I take that in, likeyeah, I've learned this from my major and I've applied it again to my role.

**Sub-theme:** New interests due to role. In addition to existing interests, six interviewees also spoke about how their roles fostered new interests. One RA, while discussing her new interests in other cultures, stated,

I've lived with people who I would never lived with if I hadn't come to college slash if I hadn't been in a leadership position that kind of required me to get to know people, um, on my wing . . . I'm living with people from Korea, people, um,

from the Bahamas, and just interests in their culture . . . interests in . . . how they celebrate, how they mourn, yeah, I think just interest in how they do life.

Another student, who was a professional writing major, discussed how her new interests impacted the direction she wanted to take her career:

... in the in the opportunities I've gotten, whether that was, like, going on the Civil Rights tour, or, um, or now in [student programs]—like, having my job where I, like, put on programming that furthers, like, understanding and education on certain issues, I found that, like, this is something that and I feel really called to, um, and that I have, like, a really valid and important perspective that a lot of people with my perspective—like, I'm not the only one with this perspective, but that a lot of the people in my—from my perspective don't end up going into this as, like, a career. And so there's kind of a empty hole a lot of times and so, um, and so—and so I was like, "I feel really called to that and I really love education and I really love—I really love higher education but I love, like, the academic end of it." And so, um, getting to, like, put on programs that were kind of academic in nature, being a resource to people in my position, to my cabinet, but also to the student body. Um, I think all of those things I really really enjoyed and so I was like, "I wanna, like, teach. And I love sociology. I should teach."

Through their experiences, the participants indicated they could find ways to incorporate interests into their roles as well as discover new passions as a result of their leadership.

### **Event Planning**

The second major theme that emerged was event planning. All eight participants discussed their role in planning or executing events. One male RA stated,

I got to put together an escape room. That was a lot of fun and it was kind of ambiguous because I didn't know how to throw one together and—but I felt like the—taking risks is an idea that has been grown, uh, and fostered in the student development program, um, and this idea if you have a creative idea that you're not sure if it might go over well, like, take that risk, see how it develops. And, I mean, the event went over well, but it was more the process and, like, the anticipation of building something that I think was a cool experience.

Participants discussed how their planning of events also fostered new interests, allowed for collaboration, or helped them to see themselves as creative individuals.

### **Impact on Communication**

Seven of the eight participants mentioned that their experiences impacted how they communicated in some manner. One participant spoke about learning from the successes and failure of his predecessors:

... some things were implemented really well, um, like, for instance, like, planning—like, floor emails, like, I didn't know at the time how vital that—that was—how effective that was. But, you know, I just carried on that kind of tradition and it was effective, so I learned from that.

Along a similar line of thought, another participant shared,

I spend a lot of time, like, figuring out the design of emails, figuring out the design of posters to figure out which—what communicates best to the students that I'm trying to reach. I want to make sure they don't have any questions, that it's, like, readable, that they want to read it all the way through.

**Sub-theme: Creativity in conversation.** In discussion on communication, half of the participants discussed being creative in conversations. One RA, while giving her definition of creativity, reflected,

I've definitely learned in this role, like, how do you creatively start a conversation with someone that you've only known—with a freshman that you've only known for five hours of, like, "The only thing that I can see that we have in common is you have jeans on, and I do too." And, like, how do you start a conversation with this person, uh, like, off of jeans? Um, let's see. . . . yeah, so being able to like—be engaging. I—I think there's a part of creativity, like, how do you keep someone engaged in what you're doing or talking about or trying. Like, my end product in that situation would be "I wanna have a relationship with you," so how do—like, how do I engage in a relationship with you. Um, and it would have to be creatively because this person just got dropped off and they're now without their parents for the first time in their life and they're just crying and, like, how do you move forward from there?

Of the four who discussed creativity in conversation, three participants described it from the perspective of an RA while one recounted the topic from her experience in student programs in terms of large-scale conversations on campus.

## **Supervisors**

Six participants also mentioned their supervisor at some point in the interview. Participants spoke about their supervisors' influence on their thinking or how their supervisors allowed for a significant experience. One participant stated,

... entrepreneurship and innovation are huge interests of mine and [student programs] does a great job of ... pushing [my cabinet] to innovate—[the director of student programs] does a good job of pushing—and that what—like, growth mindset's taught with the—in the—in the paradigm or in the framework of risk taking and being willing to take risks. And so innovation—in order to innovate, you have to be able to take risks, like, that's a—that's a key requirement for innovation.

Others additionally described their supervisors' roles in developing new interests and helping to teach them how to program effectively.

#### Collaboration

Another common theme in the interviews was an amount of collaboration in their roles, with six of the eight participants mentioning the idea. One student explained,

I've got to interact with people and be collaborative with things, um, being identified as a student leader on campus has gotten me, um—and making those connections across campus has gotten me other opportunities—I've been utilized interviews before, so I feel like I have a better comprehension on the interview process and how to interview people.

Other participants mentioned collaborating with other organizations to put on events and how collaboration within their organization showed them the value of seeing and utilizing the strengths inherent in their group.

**Sub-theme: Going to team for input or support.** Among the discussion of collaboration in their leadership positions, four participants mentioned a team of people

with whom they could consult for input or support. One RA described his utilization of a team:

I'm computer science, [my co-RAs] definitely weren't, they were sports management. And so, like, kind of going on their terms of thinking, uh, like, when people say, "Hey I want to go out and play volleyball" or "I want to go do more, like, athletic kind of events," like, I can't relate on that. And so I had to, like, go to them and say, "Hey, uh, how would you do this? How would you think about implementing this kind of activity?" And then they'd kind of take it from there and that really helps kind of establish a relationship and connection and kind of giving some new insight.

## **Looking Past Failure**

The sixth major theme that came forth in the interviews was looking past failure, either real or perceived. One participant who mentioned this theme discussed how he developed a growth mindset from his major and from his time in student programs:

... I'm a computer science major, I'm—the computer tells me I'm stupid, like, everyday. Like, I hit compile probably, like, every couple minutes and it tells me I'm stupid. And so also I would not necessarily say it's all from [student programs], a lot of it's from my major and just being comfortable in that—um, yeah, it—probably a lot more of it is from my major than from [student programs], but it is a core value for [student programs], and it's definitely supplemented, I'm not sure what the combination is, but both are really essential to me having a growth mindset and going, "yeah, I'm going to learn from this."

This participant further related how he views failure as an "iterative process," a term derived from his major referring to a cycle of testing an idea or program, failing, and fixing it before trying again.

# **Redefining Creativity through Role**

In their discussion of creativity, all participants mentioned some way in which their experiences in leadership impacted their views or definition of creativity. All had different ways of defining creativity but described how their definition, thoughts, or views on creativity changed through an experience or training within their leadership program. These descriptions of creativity often had similar components such as describing creativity as art or music (though not exclusively), creativity involving something new or original, and creativity as uniqueness.

**Sub-theme:** Creativity as art or music. Of the eight participants, seven mentioned creativity as including art and music. The one participant excluded from this number still mentioned art but discussed how it does not fit within his "paradigm" of creativity. Others mentioned art as being a more traditional idea of what defines creativity or how they at some point used art as a measurement of their own creativity (or lack thereof). One RA recounted,

... I think that before I was in leadership I would argue what I had said previously about creativity strictly referring to art only, um, or, like, the creation of art only but I have seen a skill that I have kind of, like, be able to flourish within my leadership position and I've been encouraged and told that, like, "this is a skill and, like, you have creative ways of going about this."

**Sub-theme: Creativity as new or original.** In their descriptions of creativity, five participants described creativity as new or original in some way. One participant stated it as "making something original, fresh, or new, even just if to yourself, um, and it can be within a specific framework or making a new framework for things to be designed under." Another defined creativity as "doing something new, um, maybe pushing yourself, um, in and area—something that you haven't done before or that maybe somebody hasn't laid out for you to do or you haven't seen done perhaps."

**Sub-theme: Creativity as unique.** Although similar to an idea of something being new or original, four participants discussed creativity as putting an individualized, unique spin on an idea. One stated, "It's not even necessarily creating something, I think it's engaging with concepts, with ideas, with physical materials in . . . not necessarily new but in very unique and personal-to-you ways." Another gave the following definition of creativity:

. . . an individual's, like, unique way of experiencing . . . which can happen in a lot of different outlets, whether it be in conversation and how they lead a conversation or how they listen in a conversation. Um, and then more, like, kind of art—arty outlets like painting or dancing or singing, um, but yeah I—overall I would say just a—a unique way of experiencing in however—whatever outlet they choose to experience then.

# **Creative Self-Efficacy**

The final major theme participants discussed was creative self-efficacy or the idea that one is creative. All eight participants stated that they think of themselves as creative. One RA put it this way:

I like to do things differently. I like to break molds. I am a little bit of a challenger in that way, of if somebody tells me to do something or says I should do something, I'm gonna find the, like, freshest way to do that.

Another participant who held a leadership position in student programs described her creativity in relation to her skills:

I think a lot of times in the worldly sense of creativity, like as in someone who's artistic or musical, I wouldn't say I'm very creative. Um, but I do think I am creative in, um, I think [my organization] is a perfect—perfect example of how I get to practice creativity and, um, you know, I create—I create things in how I organize things or how I construct systems, um, whether that's, you know, organizing an event of people—that's how I really can expand and use my creativity, um, it's in how I organize events. Um, but in that—the creativity in the very traditional "sense of, like, art and music, um, yeah I—I'd say I have creativity in the sense of something a little bit more abstract than that.

Other participants also discussed their views of themselves as creative in relation to imagination, working within various frameworks, or being creative within their major.

**Sub-theme: Role impacting view of self as creative.** Seven participants affirmed that their experience impacted their creative self-efficacy. One participant recounted.

... so, like, creativity and arts and stuff is producing some sort of a good. Um, you—you produce something and so working on a event in a position of leadership I—I was able to see this product that I was producing, um, kind of come alive and take shape. Um, so in that sense, like, it was a more tangible value that I—I had

never really associated with, like, "Oh yeah, I'm creative because I'm a leader."

Like, I never would have associated that, but then seeing how that has talked [sic] form in events . . . has really put some, um, value to what that means, 'cause it is kind of a very abstract concept.

Others discussed how their views of themselves as creative individuals were impacted through their roles by allowing them to see ways they were creative. Additionally, some mentioned that their training specifically discussed creativity, thus broadening their perspectives on what creativity entails. Among the participants, one indicated that she did not feel like her experience in leadership contributed to her creative self-efficacy, as she had always viewed herself as a creative person.

#### Conclusion

The results of the survey and interviews provided a plethora of information about students' experiences in leadership positions, as well as their thoughts about creativity and whether they viewed themselves as creative. Eight themes emerged from the interviews, including incorporating interests into their role, event planning, an impact on communication, supervisors, collaboration, looking past failure, redefining creativity through their roles, and creative self-efficacy. Nine sub-themes further elaborated on the themes, providing more layers of depth to understanding the nature of the participants' experiences in their leadership positions.

## Chapter 5

#### **Discussion**

The results of this study provide highly beneficial insight into the interactions between a student's experience in a leadership position and his or her development of creativity. These interactions were demonstrated in terms of the traits indicative of creative individuals, the way participants viewed creativity, and whether or not they defined themselves as creative individuals. Ultimately, the study indicated that leadership positions put students in spaces allowing them to develop creative skills and processes and to practice them. Additionally, experiences in leadership afforded students the opportunity to redefine creativity and see ways in which they themselves were creative. Together, these findings provide a more holistic picture of the participants' experiences in student leadership and the impact it had on their development of creativity.

## **Event Planning**

Based on participant responses, event planning appears to be a common means for students to develop creativity through growing and practicing creative skills. Inherently, an activity such as event planning requires student leaders to gain comfort in working with ambiguity and complexity, traits mentioned in both leadership and creativity literature (Cress et al., 2001; Hulme et al., 2014; Lucas et al., 2014; Runco, 2007). These factors are present in much of event planning, whether through picking a mass-appealing theme or figuring out the logistics inherent in scheduling and executing an event.

Additionally, event planning provides students the opportunity to find avenues to incorporate their interests into their roles, producing creative programming. By integrating their interests into events, students learn to make interdisciplinary connections since they are combining the disciplines inherent within the program and their personal interests. Such integration can occur in a myriad of forms, whether through planning an educational event, teaching residents how to knit, or utilizing artistic and design skills to produce advertising for a campus-wide event. The idea of making connections between disciplines and interests aligns with Lucas et al.'s (2014) discussion of making connections as part of being imaginative. Similarly, Hulme et al. (2014) included associative thinking—combining ideas in new ways—as one of four characteristics of creative individuals. In summary, as student leaders find ways to incorporate their interests into programs, they practice and demonstrate creative attributes.

Another feature of event planning mentioned by participants was that they often collaborated with a team or cabinet to plan or execute programs. By working with others, student leaders were able to give and receive feedback to improve the quality of an event and come together afterward to reflect on the quality of the program and find ways to improve it the next time. This concept demonstrates collaboration as discussed by Lucas et al. (2014) as well as prototyping and reflection as described by Hulme et al. (2014) and Wyke (2013). Through events, participants gained beneficial practice in healthy collaboration and were given space to learn the process of prototyping and refining ideas.

Participants also mentioned event planning as a way in which they were able to see themselves as creative. This theme of self-efficacy points back to Runco (2007) and Hume et al. (2014) who included self-efficacy as a trait of creative individuals.

Ultimately, event planning provided an opportunity for students to gain experience with creativity and allowed student leaders to see the ways in which they were creative. This experience even caused some participants to develop a newfound creative self-efficacy as they redefined creativity and saw how their skills fit into their new paradigm.

## **Supervisors**

Besides event planning, supervisors are another important component of creating spaces for student leaders to grow and practice creative skills. The study's participants described their supervisors as exposing them to new areas of interest, aiding in students' redefinition of creativity, and creating an environment for them to prototype and refine ideas. These responses show supervisors play an important role implicitly and explicitly in the creative development of students with whom they work. The participants' frequent mention of supervisors affirms the importance of creative mentors in developing creativity in college students, as proposed by Hulme et al. (2014) and Alencar et al. (2017). As educators, supervisors play a vital role in creating an environment that fosters creativity (Baillie, 2006; Jackson & Sinclair, 2006; Cole et al., 1999) since they play a part in shaping the culture of their offices in which students work and develop.

Along with the influence from supervisors, environment also significantly impacts creative development (Alencar et al., 2017; Hulme et al., 2014; Treffinger et al., 2002; Zhu & Zhang, 2011). An environment conducive to this development makes accessible the benefits gained through activities such as event planning. Conversely, an environment that does not allow the incorporation of interests into programming and requires student leaders to work in isolation will likely not result in students developing creative skills to the same extent, if at all. Participants in this study indicated that

supervisors provided spaces in which they were able to work together, experiment with new ideas, and see themselves as creative whether through planning logistics, how they communicated with others, or in how they thought about a particular issue.

A conclusion such as this is not entirely surprising, as the Student Programs office at the studied institution specifically placed value on creativity as a goal for the students within the office. Additionally, through the interviews, two RAs mentioned that their training discussed to some extent how to be creative in planning programs for their residence halls. Though participants may have had some instruction regarding creativity, the student leaders all demonstrated their internalized definitions and thoughts about what it meant to be creative in their specific context. This internalized creativity by the participants points to the relative success in how supervisors at this particular institution structured their students' leadership experiences and indicates the effectiveness of intentionality by supervisors who want to develop creativity in their student leaders.

## Limitations

In any study, researchers face multiple setbacks and limitations, resulting in some potential impact to the overall applicability of the data. First, males had a considerably lower response rate (approximately 19% of total responses). Additionally, the participants were primarily white, with the only other identified ethnicity being "multiple ethnicity/other" (constituting approximately 9% of participants). These low percentages mean that the results may not be entirely representative of the views of all student leaders across the variables of gender and ethnicity. However, since all interview participants discussed a majority of the themes, it is unlikely that a larger sample size would have contributed significantly different results.

Secondly, the wording of one of the survey questions and the initial instructions were too vague, resulting in answers that were irrelevant to the study; those responses were therefore excluded. This question inquired whether the student leaders had been able to better make connections across various fields (intended to mean fields of information) due to their leadership experience. However, despite measures taken to ensure the clarity of the questions, the majority of participants (approximately 66%) interpreted this question to refer to connections in networking. Although these responses point to collaboration and Patterson (2012) discussed greater development of leadership capabilities in students involved in interdisciplinary student organizations, the question specifically inquired about associative thinking. Since this study defines creativity as an ability to make connections within a single field or between multiple fields of knowledge, this question was particularly important to determine if student leaders were developing an important trait of creative individuals.

Additionally, the instructions did not inform participants to answer according to the leadership positions that resulted in their selection to participate; thus, some (approximately 9%) responded in reference to a leadership role beyond the study's scope. These responses were discarded in order to more accurately provide an essence for two specific offices rather than a more shallow description over a broader variety of positions. Such miscommunications resulted in the loss of information that could have otherwise been used, had the wording of one question and the instructions been clearer.

The third limitation of this study was the timing of the survey and responses. The survey was sent out the week before students went on their spring break and was open for a month. Thus, by the time the survey responses were analyzed and interview

participants were solicited, students were preparing for their finals, and some declined interviews because they lacked the time to participate. Additionally, potential participants may have been fatigued, as the same group was also solicited concurrently for a separate research project. These factors of timing may have impacted the response rate and could account for some of the low turnout.

The final limitation is the potential for bias. Since the researcher held leadership positions as an undergraduate student and considers himself a creative individual, there is the possibility of some bias in the results. Still, the researcher took steps to ensure the validity of the data to eliminate biases and sought to transcend his bias save for when the researcher's experiences were needed to make connections and interpret the data, as prescribed by the hermeneutical phenomenological approach (van Manen, 1990). In addition to researcher bias, participant bias, though unlikely, may have also been present in this study. Since the solicitation email and survey both stated the study's focus on creativity and student leadership experiences, those who did not identify as creative individuals may have decided not to participate. This participant self-selection may have therefore skewed the results to appear more affirmative of development than they actually were. However, a wave analysis as described by Creswell (2012) indicates that participant bias is most likely not present in the survey results, as the results of the last participants were not significantly different from those of the first responders. Besides the survey respondents, interview participants were selected because they demonstrated most of the developmental outcomes ideal from a leadership experience and often provided specific examples of such development. Also, since volunteering for the interviews was optional, many individuals who said they did not experience some of the

developmental outcomes did not indicate interest in participating in the second part of the study. However, due to the nature of this study, there is little reason to believe that the selected participants were biased and provided information that would be significantly different from that provided by those who did not wish to be part of the interviews.

## **Implications for Practitioners**

The results of this study indicate that a leadership experience may provide an effective conduit for the development of creativity in undergraduate students. This finding carries a variety of implications for practices to more effectively foster creativity through a leadership positions. Since supervisors were a reoccurring theme across participant responses, practitioners in student affairs should be particularly cognizant of how they structure their students' leadership experiences in order to maximize the impact it will have on the development of creativity in the students with whom they work.

First, a simple way for student affairs practitioners to develop creativity in student leaders is to encourage students to find ways to incorporate information and skills from their majors and classes in their roles. A major should be an easy place for students to find connections since they spend so much time in a specific field of knowledge, a component of creativity mentioned by Csikszentmihalyi (1996) and Hulme et al. (2014). This practice should ideally give students practice in associative thinking in fields of information that may not naturally fit together. To further aid students in learning to make interdisciplinary connections, practitioners should encourage students to explore new areas of potential interests in disciplines outside their major and the inherent scope of their leadership position. Broadening interests gives students more outlets in which to make connections, providing greater innovation as they draw from diverse disciplines.

In addition to associative thinking, practitioners who wish to develop creativity in their students should promote a culture that both allows their students to find value in failures and to use this to prototype and refine ideas. These factors are interconnected as valuing failure encourages critical reflection of programs or important conversations. By reflecting, student leaders are given the opportunity to identify what went wrong or what could have been done more effectively and can then take this knowledge into account before planning a similar program or having another conversation with a resident. Such practices can be done both at an individual level as well as in a collaborative group setting, depending on what would be most helpful for the situation.

With fostering an ability to move past failures comes a measure of trust from supervisors. As students gain trust to make key decisions and undergo an iterative process, supervisors should remain cautious to intervene unless such involvement is necessary to avoid a disastrous or harmful situation. When failures do occur, supervisors can be key instigators in the iteration process by asking questions, allowing student leaders to reflect on what went wrong and how the failure could be an opportunity for growth. A supervisor's display of trust should provide space for student leaders to grow in their abilities to operate in complexity and ambiguity, give them a greater sense of creative self-efficacy, and help them better understand the value of failure.

Additionally, if a student affairs practitioner wishes to develop creativity in his or her students, simply stating or encouraging these practices is not enough. Program structures must be designed to require students to make interdisciplinary connections, broaden their interests, see the value in failure, and prototype and refine their ideas. Furthermore, supervisors need to encourage divergent thinking among their student

leaders. Considering the observations by Kharkhurin and Motalleebi (2008) regarding culture and creative development, convergent thinking in how a program should be organized or executed is likely to severely hinder creative development within an office. Thus, an office working with student leaders should be careful of striving for efficiency as the peak virtue of excellence, for such thought could result in a lack of creativity. In a culture that heavily favors convergent thinking in primary and secondary schooling (Robinson, 2006), the importance of promoting divergent thinking within student leadership experiences should be a crucial concern for student affairs practitioners who wish to foster creativity.

As students practice divergent thinking within their offices, supervisors should encourage them to incorporate information from various fields of knowledge and to learn from failures. This culture serves as a curriculum and set of practices for creativity in an office. Such heavy involvement in creative practice considers the observation by Astin (1984) that investment in curriculum produces learning and developmental outcomes. Thus, in order to develop creative characteristics in student leaders, they must be involved in a manner that requires them to utilize the desired skills. However, practitioners should carefully and purposefully structure the environment and learning activities to healthily promote skills and traits that allow the development of creativity.

### **Implications for Future Research**

During this study, multiple topics emerged as potential areas for future research.

First would be a similar study with students who hold other leadership positions in other campus areas such as intercultural services, service learning, advancement, or admissions to see if students' experiences in those offices impact their creative development. Such a

study could also provide a more comprehensive view of creative development across racial/ethnic demographics and see if any significant differences in thoughts regarding creativity are tied into a student's cultural background.

Future research could also include performing a study similar to this one at a variety of institutions to see if students' experiences in leadership impact their creative development in other ways on different campuses. Additionally, since the leadership roles examined in this study place some amount of emphasis on creativity, it would be interesting to examine institutions in which creativity is not emphasized by supervisors. Both of these areas of study could help to provide a more complete picture of specific ways in which creativity can be developed in different campus climates.

A third area for future research would be to find a reliable and accurate tool for measuring creativity and to perform a test before and after a student's experience in a leadership role. Such a tool would help provide quantitative data to better describe that magnitude in which leadership experiences impact development of creativity. An alternative to a qualitative protocol would be to utilize a self-assessment similar to one proposed by Cowan (2006). This technique requires students to audit their own creative growth and defend their opinion before a panel of judges who seek to ensure objectivity of the assessment. The results of the audits could then be compared across a sample of students. A study of this nature could also help to better assess the overall effectiveness of leadership experiences as a method of teaching creativity to undergraduate students.

#### Conclusion

Society today faces a variety of problems that require comprehensive, interdisciplinary approaches. As a result, colleges and universities are tasked with

determining how best to develop creativity in their students, as there is higher demand for creative and innovative graduates. In his discussion on involvement, Astin (1984) stated, "The theory of student involvement argues that a particular curriculum, to achieve the effects intended, must elicit sufficient student effort and investment of energy to bring about the desired learning and development" (p. 522). Thus, when placed in spaces requiring them to utilize traits associated with creativity, student leaders should develop such characteristics. Since many traits and skills associated with creative individuals overlap with developmental goals for a leadership experience, this study sought to examine the impact of a leadership experience on the development of creativity in undergraduate students.

In order to assess this impact, the study addressed two research questions: Is creativity a developmental outcome of a student leadership experience? And what traits indicative of creative individuals are being developed in student leaders and how are these traits being developed? Students indicated development in an increased risk-taking tolerance, comfort with complexity and ambiguity, diversity in interests, an ability to prototype and refine ideas, an ability to make connections across disciplines, and creative self-efficacy. Factors in their experiences such as event planning, supervisors, and an environment that values creativity played roles in allowing students to develop creative skills and traits while also helping student leaders redefine creativity and gain creative self-efficacy if it was not present before. The participants of this study both demonstrated development of creative traits and attributed this development to their leadership experience. Thus, it would seem a leadership experience, if thoughtfully and purposefully structured, can be an effective medium by which one can teach creativity.

#### References

- Alencar, E. M. L. S., Fleith, D. S., & Pereira, N. (2017). Creativity in higher education:

  Challenges and facilitating factors. *Temas Em Psicologia*, 25, 553–561.

  doi:10.9788/TP2017.2-09
- Astin, A. W. (1984). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 25, 297–308.
- Astin, H. S., & Astin, A. W. (1996). A social change model of leadership development:

  Guidebook, version III. Los Angeles, CA: Higher Education Research Institute,
  University of California.
- Balchin, T. (2006). Evaluating creativity through consensual assessment. In N. Jackson,
  M. Oliver, M. Shaw, & J. Wisdom (Eds.), *Developing creativity in higher*education: An imaginative curriculum (pp. 173–182). London: Routledge.
- Baillie, C. (2006). Enhancing students' creativity through creative-thinking techniques. In
  N. Jackson, M. Oliver, M. Shaw, & J. Wisdom (Eds.), *Developing creativity in higher education: An imaginative curriculum* (pp. 142–155). London: Routledge.
- Berrett, D. (2013). Creativity: A cure for the common curriculum. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 59(30), pp. A33–A36.
- Cole, D. G., Sugioka, H. L., & Yamagata-Lynch, L. C. (1999). Supportive classroom environments for creativity in higher education. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, *33*, 277–93. doi:10.1002/j.2162-6057.1999.tb01407.x

- Cowan, J. (2006). How should I assess creativity? In N. Jackson, M. Oliver, M. Shaw, & J. Wisdom (Eds.), *Developing creativity in higher education: An imaginative curriculum* (pp. 156–172). London: Routledge.
- Cress, C. M., Astin, H. S., Zimmerman-Oster, K., & Burkhardt, J. C. (2001).

  Developmental outcomes of college students' involvement in leadership activities. *Journal of College Student Development*, 42(1), 15–27. Retrieved from http://abigraphics.com/sites/default/files/port/abi\_Journal.PDF
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1996). Creativity: Flow and the psychology of discovery and invention. New York, NY: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Dugan, J. P. (2006). Explorations using the social change model: Leadership development among college men and women. *Journal of College Student Development*, 47, 217–225. doi:10.1353/csd.2006.0015
- Florida, R. L. (2010). *The great reset: How new ways of living and working drive post-crash prosperity*. New York, NY: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Hargrove, R., & Rice, A. (2015). The challenge of beginning. *International Journal of Art & Design Education*, 34, 159–168. doi:10.1111/jade.12027
- Hulme, E., Thomas, B., & DeLaRosby, H. (2014). Developing creativity ecosystems:

  Preparing college students for tomorrow's innovation challenge. *About Campus*,

  19(1), 14–23. doi:10.1002/abc.21146

- Jackson, N., & Sinclair, C. (2006). Developing student's creativity: Searching for an appropriate pedagogy. In N. Jackson, M. Oliver, M. Shaw, & J. Wisdom (Eds.),
  Developing creativity in higher education: An imaginative curriculum (pp. 118–141). London: Routledge.
- Kandiko, C. B. (2012). Leadership and creativity in higher education: The role of interdisciplinarity. *London Review of Education*, 10, 191–200. doi:10.1080/14748460.2012.691283
- Kharkhurin, A. V., & Motalleebi, S. N. S. (2008). The impact of culture on the creative potential of American, Russian, and Iranian college students. *Creativity Research Journal*, 20, 404–411. doi:10.1080/10400410802391835
- Lester, M. (2011). A study of the innovation, creativity, and leadership skills associated with the college-level millennial generation (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (912997554)
- Lucas, B. (2016). A five-dimensional model of creativity and its assessment in schools.

  \*Applied Measurement in Education, 29, 278–290.

  doi:10.1080/08957347.2016.1209206
- Lucas, B., Claxton, G., & Spencer, E. (2014). Progression in student creativity in school:

  First steps towards new forms of formative assessments. *Contemporary Readings*in Law and Social Justice, 6(2), 81–121.
- McNiff, S. (1998). *Trust the process: An artist's guide to letting go*. Boston, MA: Shambhala Publications, Inc.

- Patterson, B. (2012). Influences of student organizational leadership experiences in college students leadership behaviors. *E Journal of Organizational Learning & Leadership*, 10(1), 1–12. Retrieved from https://bit.ly/2rGMaXo
- Posner, B. Z. (2004). A leadership development instrument for students: Updated.

  \*\*Journal of College Student Development, 45, 443–456.\*\*

  doi:10.1353/csd.2004.0051
- Robinson, K. (2006, February). *Ken Robinson: Do schools kill creativity?* Retrieved from http://www.ted.com/talks/ken\_robinson\_says\_schools\_kill\_creativity?language=en
- Runco, M. A. (2003). Education for creative potential. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 47, 317–324. doi:10.1080/00313830308598
- Runco, M. A. (2007). *Creativity: theories and themes: Research, development, and practice* (Vol. xi). San Diego, CA: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Treffinger, D. J., Young, G. C., Selby, E. C., & Shepardson, C. (2002). *Assessing creativity: A guide for educators* (RM02170). National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED505548
- van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Wyke, R. M. C. (2013). Teaching creativity and innovation in higher education.(Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.(1437663202)
- Zhu, C., & Zhang, L.F. (2011). Thinking styles and conceptions of creativity among university students. *Educational Psychology*, *31*, 361–375. doi:10.1080/01443410.2011.557044

# Appendix A

# **Survey Protocol**

| Major:   |
|--|
| Gender:  |
| Ethnicity:   |
| Academic year:   |
| Survey   |
| Please answer the following questions as honestly as possible. Do not feel the need to come up with answers if nothing comes to mind.    |
| What is your leadership position on campus?  |
| Has your experience in student leadership impacted your ability to collaborate with others (for example, giving and receiving feedback)? |
| If so, in what ways?   |
| Has your leadership experience allowed you develop a broader range of interests?   |
| If so, in what ways?   |
| Has your leadership experience further allowed you to develop existing diverse interests?  |
| If so, in what ways?   |
| Has your leadership experience given you the confidence to enter into complex situations   |

(meaning situations in which there are numerous, interacting factors)?

If so, in what ways?

Has your leadership experience given you the confidence to enter into ambiguous and uncertain situations (meaning situations in which there is a lack of information)?

If so, in what ways?

Has your leadership experience given you the confidence to take risks?

If so, in what ways?

Has you leadership experience helped you to better make connections across multiple fields?

If so, please explain.

In your leadership position, are you given the opportunity to test and refine ideas?

If so, please explain.

Your responses to this survey are highly appreciated and are providing valuable information regarding creativity as a developmental outcome of a student leadership experience. Would you be willing to meet with the researcher to further discuss your answers? If so, please provide your name and Taylor email address.

## Appendix B

### **Interview Protocol**

In the survey you indicated that [insert phrase of interest from survey responses (ie. you gained comfort with taking risks from your experience as a Resident Assistant)]. Would you be able to tell me a bit more about that experience?

What about your leadership experience allowed you to [insert trait of growth (ie. gain comfort with taking risks)]?

[Repeat above two questions for each response from the survey that was of interest or particularly unique.]

How would you define creativity?

Do you view yourself as a creative individual? Why or why not?

Do you think that your experience in leadership has impacted your definition of creativity? If so, in what ways?

Do you think that your experience in leadership has impacted whether or not you view yourself as a creative individual? If so, in what ways?

Appendix C
Survey Response Trends

